
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 18 June 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
G J Taylor (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones and 
C J Lawton. 

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   10 June 2019

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 

a)   Cabinet minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting of the Cabinet held on 12 March 2019 (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 
5 - 16)

b)   Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee - 28 
February 2019 - To consider the minutes of the meeting of the 
Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub Committee held on 28 
February 2019 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
17 - 22)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. 2018/19 Financial Outturn - To provide information on the outturn 
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2019 (report of the 
Portfolio Holder Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151) enclosed).

(Pages 
23 - 46)

8. Economic Action Plan - To present to members a package of proposed 
activity that has been designed to support interventions in respect of 
Economic Development and Inward Investment delivery in South 
Holland, including the adoption of a South Holland Economic Action 
Plan (report of the Portfolio Holder, Growth and Commercialisation).

(To 
Follow)

9. Appointment of Panels and Working Parties - To consider the 
appointment of Panels and Working Parties (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
47 - 50)

10. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

Page 2



(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

11. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

12. Fleet Maintenance - To consider the options for the fleet maintenance of 
council owned vehicles, including environmental services (report of the 
Portfolio Holder, Place and the Executive Director, Place enclosed).

(Pages 
51 - 68)

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 49 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 12 March 2019 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader)

M G Chandler (Deputy 
Leader)
T A Carter

A Casson
R Gambba-Jones

C N Johnson
C J Lawton

The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive 
Director Strategy and Governance, the Executive Director Place, the Executive 
Manager Governance, the Executive Manager Information, the Executive Manager 
Property and Development, the Executive Manager Growth, the Place Manager, the 
Housing Landlord Services Manager, the Housing Options Manager, the Delivery Unit 
Project Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Head of Service 
Revenues and Benefits (CPBS), the Recovery and Support Team Leader (CPBS), 
the IT Manager (Shared), the Digital and Customer Access Manager, the Customer 
Services Service Manager and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Worth, 
P E Coupland, G J Taylor and B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
together with South Holland Citizens Advice Bureau, Parish Councils and Welland 
Seniors Forum.

In Attendance:  Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee), 
Councillor A M Newton (Independent Group Leader) and Councillor F Biggadike. 

Action By
75. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 February 2019 
were signed by the Leader as a correct record.

76. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

Councillor Porter informed the meeting that in relation to agenda 
items 13 and 14, in the interests of transparency, he wished it to 
be recorded that he was a small scale private sector landlord, and 
that he would leave the meeting during discussion of these items. 

Councillor Carter informed the meeting that in relation to agenda 
items 13 and 14, in the interests of transparency, she wished it to 
be recorded that she was a small scale private sector landlord, 
and that she would leave the meeting during discussion of these 
items. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 50 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

77. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders).

78. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in.

79. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels.

80. RECORDS MANAGEMENT POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer which requested that the Cabinet 
consider and approve the Records Management Policy for the 
Council.

DECISION:

That the Records Management Policy be approved and that 
delegated authority be given to the Executive Manager for 
Governance, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder Governance 
and Customer, to make minor amendments to the Policy.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 The Council is required to have a Records Management Policy 

and Retention Policy in place in order to show transparency 
and to comply with Data Protection legislation.)

KM, MS 

81. CUSTOMER ACCESS STRATEGY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer and the Executive Director Strategy 
and Governance, which requested that the Cabinet agree to 
implement the Customer Access Strategy, which aimed to 
improve residents’ experience of contacting South Holland District 
Council while also increasing the efficiency of overall operating 
arrangements.

Page 6



- 51 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

DECISION:

a) That the draft Customer Access Strategy be approved;

b) That the strategy be implemented from April 2019, to align 
with the Council’s new Corporate Plan; and

c) That the strategy’s progress be reported to the Council’s 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a six monthly basis, or as 
appropriate.

(Other options considered:
 To propose changes to the draft Customer Access Strategy, or 

its reporting to the Council’s Performance Monitoring Panel 
every six months;

 Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To set out a clear plan for making best use of Council 

resources to meet the needs of its customers, achieving value 
for money for the Council and its residents.)

SB 

CM 

82. ICT & DIGITAL STRATEGY AND DIGITAL WORK 
PROGRAMME 2019 - 2022 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Executive 
Director Strategy and Governance, which requested that the 
Cabinet adopt the new ICT and Digital Strategy, and 
recommended to Council the transfer of funds to ensure the 
delivery of the Digital Work Programme.

DECISION:

a) That the draft ICT and Digital Strategy be approved, and 
implemented from April 2019 to align with the Council’s new 
Corporate Plan;

b) That the Digital Work Programme associated with this strategy 
be approved, subject to recommendation 4 below being 
agreed at Council on 27 March 2019;

c) That the strategy’s progress be reported to the Council’s 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a six monthly basis, or as 
appropriate.

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:

d) That in order to deliver the Digital Work Programme, a transfer 
of £331,613 from the Council’s investment and growth reserve 

SB 

CM 

CM 

Page 7



- 52 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

be approved. 

(Other options considered:
 Propose changes to the draft ICT and Digital Strategy and/or 

digital work programme, or their reporting to the Council’s 
Performance Monitoring Panel every six months;

 Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 The strategy sets out a clear plan for making best use of 

Council resources to meet the needs of its customers – 
residents, businesses, staff and elected Members, while 
achieving value for money for the Council.)

83. CAR PARKING CONSULTATION OUTCOME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Place, which provided members with details of the outcomes of 
the statutory consultation and requested that changes to the car 
parking order be agreed.

DECISION:

a) That, having taken into account the results of the consultation, 
installation of card and cash payment machines be agreed, for 
the car parks at:

 Sheep Market – Spalding PE11 1BE
 Victoria Street – Spalding PE11 1EA
 Holland Road – Spalding PE11 1UL
 Winfrey Avenue - Spalding PE11 1DA
 The Vista – Spalding PE11 2RA
 Swimming Pool – Spalding PE11 1QD

b) That, having taken into account the results of the consultation, 
it be agreed that the South Holland District Council (Off Street 
Parking Places) (Civil Enforcement) Order 2012 be amended 
so as to allow payment of parking charges by ‘any means 
advertised’ such as coin, card and mobile phone.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 That the order is made future proof by amending it to accept 

the provision of ‘any payment method as advertised’ to allow 
for changes in technology and include current options such as 
mobile phone payments for car parking as part of the 
consultation;

 To provide the customers of SHDC’s car parks a much 

CP 

Page 8



- 53 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

improved service by giving them a variety of payment 
methods).

(The Environmental Services Manager left the meeting following 
discussion of this item.)

84. OPPORTUNITY PETERBOROUGH CONTRACT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation which asked the Cabinet to review 
the continuation of the Opportunity Peterborough contract for a 
further six months.

DECISION:

That following consideration of the activity pursued during the first 
period of the Opportunity Peterborough contract (as set out within 
the report), continuation of the arrangement be approved for a 
further six months.

(Other options considered:
 To give notice of termination of contract and cease work with 

Opportunity Peterborough, and not to conclude the remaining 
period of the contract.

Reasons for decision: 
 The work undertaken during the initial contract period has 

been completed in accordance with the service scope 
captured within the contract for the arrangement;

 Activity developed and pursued over the first period of the 
contract, specifically work relating to further proactive business 
engagement and the development of a well-articulated 
approach to marketing South Holland as a location ‘open for 
business’ points to the relationship having the potential to be 
effective over the lifespan of the two year period.)

NB 

85. REVIEW OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director Place, which 
advised members of the consultation process required to amend 
the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy and sought approval to 
begin this process, implementing a new policy.

Proposed changes to the Policy, on which consultation would take 
place, were appended to the report.

DECISION:

a) That subject to consultation with affordable housing partners JK 

Page 9



- 54 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

the report, outlining the proposed changes to the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Policy, be approved; and

b) That, subject to consultation, implementation of the revised 
Housing allocations Policy from April 2019 be approved.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing, and continue to operate under the existing 

Housing Allocations Policy.
Reasons for decision:
 To introduce changes that will create a simpler system to use, 

an emphasis on applicant self-management encouraging 
responsibility for their housing application and the 
encouragement for people to take an informed, measured and 
long term view of their housing options.)

(The Head of Service- Customer Contact (CPBS) left the meeting 
following discussion of this item).

(Councillors Porter and Carter left the meeting following 
discussion of this item, for the next two items of business (HIMO 
Licensing Policy and Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy).

86. HIMO LICENSING POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director Place, which 
advised members of the proposed new HIMO Licensing Policy 
and sought approval to implement the revised Policy.

Upon consideration of the report, the following issues were raised:

 Section 1.4 of the report advised that a HIMO must have a 
licence if it had five or more people in two or more households.  
It was stated that the report did not refer to family groups – this 
could affect whether these criteria were applicable, and 
clarification was sought as to how the Authority established 
whether a family group existed.  Officers responded that in 
order to establish a family connection, paper evidence was 
required as part of the application from the landlord.  If this 
was not available, the property would be inspected to 
determine the situation.    

 It was stated that there was currently a mismatch between 
criteria within the HIMO Licensing Policy and those relating to 
planning permissions.  This was being addressed and it was 
important to ensure that all relevant permissions were in place 
before a license was granted. 

 It was clarified that the HIMO Licensing Policy had arisen 
following a statutory direction from central government.   

Page 10



- 55 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

DECISION:

That recent legislative changes affecting the Council’s Private 
Sector Housing Team be noted, and the policy entitled HIMO 
Licensing Policy be approved.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing and continue with the existing Policy.
Reasons for decision:
 To have a licensing policy which was compliant with current 

legislation and met the needs of a responsive Private Sector 
Housing service.)

(The Shared Executive Manager Information and the Shared IT 
Manager left the meeting following discussion of the above item.)

JK, PS 

87. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director Place which 
asked the Cabinet to consider the draft Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy and sought approval to implement the revised 
Policy.

Councillor Biggadike commented that disposal of refuse at 
properties with no curtilage was an issue and that no reference 
was made within the policy as to how this problem would be 
addressed.  It was noted that this was an important issue which 
gave HIMOs a bad reputation. The Authority would consider, with 
the enforcement team, how it would be dealt with going forward. 

DECISION:

That the revised Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
attached at Appendix A to the report be approved and 
implemented.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing, and continue to operate without an updated 

formal Private Sector Housing Enforcement policy.
Reasons for decision:
 To have an enforcement policy which is compliant with current 

legislation and meets the needs of a responsive Private Sector 
Housing function).

(The Housing Options Manager and Councillor F Biggadike left 
the meeting following discussion of the above item.)

JK, PS 

Page 11



- 56 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

(Councillors Porter and Carter returned to the meeting following 
discussion of the above item.)

88. DEBT WRITE OFF 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder, 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which sought approval for the write off of uncollectable debt.  

Members noted that the report contained details of individual 
debts within the confidential appendices (Appendix A – Council 
Tax and Appendix B – Business Rates), and a copy of the 
Operational Debt Write Off Policy in confidential Appendix C.  
These appendices were not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) 
and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information).

Members agreed that only the principles of the report would be 
discussed and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go 
into private session.

It was noted that the indicative loss to the Council amounted to 
£1171.23.

DECISION:

That the following debts be written off:

Council Tax £1,211.54
Business Rates £1,729.94
Total: £2,941.48

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments

Reasons for decision:
 All recovery methods available had been considered and 

where appropriate pursued before making the decision to 
write off;

 Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the 
same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt 
management are in place across all revenue streams.)

89. BENEFITS VERIFICATION POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 

Page 12



- 57 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which defined the standards of verification for evidence required 
in respect of Housing Benefit claims and Local Council Tax 
Support Applications, to help protect public funds from fraud and 
error.

DECISION:

a) That the Benefits Verification Policy be approved, with 
implementation from 1 April 2019; and

b) That subsequent annual reviews and revisions be delegated to 
the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) and the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 The new Benefits Verification Policy will help prevent fraud 

and error at the same time as ensuring a clear and consistent 
standard approach to the evidence requirements and 
verification to support new Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Support claims and changes in circumstances.) 

(The Housing Landlord Services Manager,  the Digital and 
Customer Access Manager, the Head of Service – Revenues and 
Benefits (CPBS) and the Recovery and Support Team Leader left 
the meeting following discussion of the above item.)

SH 

90. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

91. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 7 of part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

92. FUTURE OCCUPANCY OF THE SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT 
COUNCIL'S OFFICE AT PRIORY ROAD, SPALDING 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader which 
requested agreement from the Cabinet for letting accommodation 

Page 13



- 58 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

at the Council Offices at Priory Road, Spalding.

DECISION:

a) That the Cabinet authorise the Executive Director of 
Commercialisation (S151), in consultation with the Deputy 
Leader in their capacity as Chair of the Priory Road 
Community Hub Sub Committee to negotiate, conclude terms 
and enter into a leasehold agreement with the party identified 
in the report, for space on the ground floor of the South 
Holland District Council Offices, on the terms set out in the 
report;

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL:

b) That it be recommended to full Council that the Cabinet 
approve a provisional sum budget of up to £10,000 from the 
Growth and Investment Reserve toward the costs associated 
with moving staff currently occupying space at South Holland 
District Council Offices;

c) Full Council to approve a budget of £82,500 capital 
contribution towards  the cost of undertaking works required 
prior to taking occupancy and which will be recovered through 
the resulting leasehold agreement with the party identified in 
the report.

(Other options considered:
 To seek to renegotiate terms, cease negotiation or seek 

another tenant.
Reasons for decision:
 One Public Estate – The Council’s Moving Forward 

Programme includes themes about partnership working and 
maximising opportunities from this.  Supporting the One Public 
Estate agenda is a good example of such an initiative.)

RH 

CM 

(The meeting ended at 10.55 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on 15 March 2019.  In accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, come into 
force and may then be implemented on 25 March 2019 (i.e. after the expiry of 5 
working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during that period 
a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in relation to a matter in 
their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel or any three 

Page 14



- 59 -

CABINET - 12 March 2019

members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is served 
on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-in and 
the Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a 
decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel 
on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 27 March 2019.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUB-
COMMITTEE held in the Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 28 
February 2019 at 2.30 pm.

PRESENT

M G Chandler (Chairman)

C N Worth (Vice-
Chairman)

A Casson  

 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Johnson 
and G J Taylor    

In Attendance:   Executive Manager Property and Development, Programme Delivery 
Manager Breckland and South Holland, Technical Project Co-Ordinator, Delivery Unit 
Project Manager and Technical Officer (CSU) and Democratic Services Officer

Action By
31 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none. 

32 MINUTES 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the Priory Road 
Community Hub Project Sub Committee meeting held on 23 
November 2018

AGREED:

That the minutes be considered a correct record. 

33 UPDATE FOR SUB-COMMITTEE PRIORY ROAD PROJECTS, 
CURRENT AND FUTURE WORK-STREAMS 

The Executive Manager – Delivery provided a presentation which 
delivered an overarching view of currently active and future 
projects for the improvement of the Priory Road Offices.

PRIORY ROAD PROJECT

What had been done?

 Reviewed Capacity of SHDC Offices

 Identified underutilised space

Page 17

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 28 February 
2019

 New layout plans

 Opportunities for further space release for possible 
letting/ colocation.

Material Considerations:

 Health & Safety / Building Capacity

 Creating flexibility where possible for modern ways 
of working

The Delivery Unit Project Manager stated that there was a plan to 
free up the customer contact centre and a potential tenant had 
been sourced for this space. Consequential moves planned as 
follows;

Delivery unit  to be relocated to the 2nd floor of the Councils 
Priory Road offices  Revenues and Benefits, as well as 
fraud  into F51  Customer Contact would then move into 
the old building  Customer Contact Centre area would 
then be empty and vacant possession given to incoming 
tenant

Alongside these physical moves, a budget was in place and a 
programme agreed for a new women’s toilet to be installed in the 
old building and the existing men’s toilets to be upgraded. Whilst 
the fit out/conversion plans for the incoming tenant for the current 
contact centre had yet to be finalised, the Sub-Committee noted 
that a key element of these works would be to provide 
independent access and egress through the creation of a new 
external door in close proximity to the existing Vine Street 
entrance. It was also noted that up to 2 car parking spaces would 
be made available to the incoming tenant.

Members asked officers to consider optimum parking solutions, 
however, their strong preference was non-allocated spaces, 
therefore a first-come-first-served system as officers and 
members were currently  utilising  the car park was the preferred 
option.. 

Programme:

It was anticipated that the moves to facilitate the contact 
centre being vacated  would take place over the summer 
and the new tenant would be in occupation by the end of 

Page 18



- 3 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 28 February 
2019

September 2019.

Further work was planned under phases 2 and 3 of space 
rationalisation which would principally involve the 2nd floor of 
Priory Road to deliver additional lettable space. It was anticipated 
that providing smaller cable-managed desks should deliver a 
better layout and overall better utilisation of space.
The Chairman wanted to know how much money was secured for 
these proposals. The Delivery unit Project Manager responded 
that no figures were concrete at that point because they were 
waiting on the result of studies into proposals before costs could 
be calculated.

The Chairman wanted to know how much money was secured for 
these proposals. The Delivery unit Project Manager responded 
that work was still underway to establish the necessary budget 
required for the 2nd floor adaptations but had fixed a sum of up to 
£10k to facilitate the moves of principally CPBS staff from the 
contact centre and into the offices referred to above in the older 
part of the building. The priority project at the time of the meeting 
was accommodating the new tenant in the current contact centre. 

DOOR ACCESS PROJECT

 The system had gone live on 7 February 2019 with all 
doors, stair gate and car park barrier working as planned

 It has been noted that staff and members were now 
accustomed to carrying access cards. Officers thanked 
members for their support with this project and its 
implementation.

 A process had been put in place for new starters, lost or 
replacement cards and the system was now ready to be 
handed over to the Facilities department.

 Panic alarm system

o Pagers were in place and operational
o Officers were awaiting new devices (2 handheld and 

2 wall mounted) which would interface with the 
panic alarm system.

 Maintenance process and supporting notes were being 
drafted for Facilities Management to be included in the 
overall building Operation Manual

Page 19



- 4 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 28 February 
2019

The Chairman stated that more needed to be done to ensure that 
people were putting their parking permit stickers in their car 
windows. He also asked that the road markings make it clearer 
that the car park was a one-way system. The Delivery Project 
Manager noted and confirmed they would look into options and 
measures needed to address these two matters. 

The Chairman also asked that a sign be installed to mark clearly 
that the exit barrier was the exit point.

An update was provided by the Delivery Project Manager on 
proposals to close the Vine Street entrance to the public. It was 
noted this wasn’t possible whilst scaffolding was in place but 
would be actioned once that had been taken down. Officers 
confirmed that final checks were being done with the Councils 
Health and Safety and Building Control teams about suitability of 
the proposed access routes around the building leading to the 
main entrance particularly for disabled persons.

It was noted that the entrance door closest to the reception area 
was being utilised again as a public as well as staff entrance. This 
was due to scaffolding and works to the front of the building but 
these works were now completed so that door needed t be taken 
back to staff /members and deliveries only 

ATRIUM HEATING

Works to the atrium to improve heating had been put back given 
the summer was fast approaching and the key was to complete 
the door access project first. Now that the door access works had 
been completed these would be commissioned. 

It was noted that 5 suppliers had visited Priory Road to provide 
quotations. Of those 5, only 2 had returned quotations. Subject to 
clarifying a number of points and the provision of a work 
programme these works would progress with the frontrunner 
contractor.

PROJECTS:

 Access control including staircase – Completed

 Heat curtains – to be commissioned but managed by 
Assets/Facilities

 Closure of car park entrance & on demand opening (Vine 
Street) was in hand

Page 20



- 5 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 28 February 
2019

 Further space planning for colocation – Ongoing

 Collaborative working between current and future tenants – 
ongoing and would be expanded when the new tenant 
arrives later in 2019.

PRIORY ROAD MAINTENANCE:

 Stock Condition Survey highlighted further maintenance 
that was required.

 There was a 5 year programme of works being created

 There was a system of priorities for  maintenance 
across the site 

 Approved budget for Planned and Responsive 
maintenance

o Planned 63%of overall budget
o Responsive 26%

 

34 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

The Chairman asked about what the plans for the Council 
Chamber were. The Shared Executive Manager - Delivery stated 
that review of options had stalled given the anticipated cost of the 
works to provide maximum flexibility of use by installing dividing 
walls. It had been found that the original proposals were going to 
be too prohibitively expensive. The Chairman stated that he was 
happy to put the current plans to rest, but that he would still like to 
see exploration of further ideas for improved utilisation of the 
space. 

35 DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Executive Manager - Delivery and The Chairman agreed that 
full consideration had been given between members and officers 
about whether to continue with this sub-committee of cabinet and 
if not how accommodation topics such as have been discussed 
since this sub-committee has sat would be picked up. This 
decision would be a matter for Cabinet to decide but there was 
consensus in this meeting that it may not continue in its existing 

Page 21



- 6 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 28 February 
2019

form. 

It was agreed there was no need for a further meeting before the 
May election but officers should keep all members briefed via all 
member briefings as and when necessary in particular relating to 
the proposed new tenant to take the space where the contact 
centre is currently located. This was particularly relevant given the 
recommendation to delegate responsibility to officers to negotiate 
and conclude terms would be in front of Cabinet shortly and then 
on to Council towards the end of March 2019 for the funding to be 
set aside required as the Councils capital contribution towards 
tenants fit out works.
 

(The meeting ended at 4.00 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 22



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet 18 June 2019  

Author: Carl Holland, Strategic Business Partner

Subject: 2018/19 Financial Outturn

Purpose: To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 
31 March 2019. 

Recommendations: 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.

2) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5.2 to 5.5.4 
and Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of this report.

Recommendations to Council:

3) That the net General Fund underspend of £631,859 be transferred to the Council Tax 
Reserve

4) That the revised General Fund capital programme of £8.268m Appendix A – Table 6 
and the revised HRA capital; programme for 2019/20 of £14.875m Appendix A – Table 
8 are approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the unaudited 2018/19 outturn financial position of the 
Council in the following areas:

 The Revenue Budget for the General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA),

 The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position, 
 The Capital Programme for 2018/19 (GF and HRA), and
 The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A.

2.3 Do nothing.

Page 23

Agenda Item 7.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance in 
2018-19 and to provide an updated financial position on reserves for 2019-20.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly on the Council’s overall financial position 
and have the information required to assist in future financial decision making.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA, 
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised within the 
following paragraphs, with further detail provided at Appendix A.  

5.2 Statement of Accounts

5.2.1 The unaudited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2019 will be 
have been provided to the Council’s auditors (Ernst Young), with the audit due to be 
completed by the end of July 2019.

5.2.2 The unaudited Statement of Accounts were published on the Council’s website by 31 May 
2019 for public inspection, which will continue for a period of 30 days, in line with The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  

5.2.3 The core Statements of the Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement were 
presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 6 June 2019.

5.2.4 The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

5.3 General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The Council has achieved a net underspend in the General Fund of £632k. This has been 
achieved after contributions to and from the Council’s reserves. The 2018/19 budget had 
built into it some planned use of reserves.

 Repairs and Refurbishment various sites (£64k)
 Green Waste (£250k) phased implementation
 Pride (£100k) original budget plus an extension in year of (£25k), reduced to £9k  
following receipt in year of government grant £16k.

5.3.2 During the year there were further emerging service requirements which have required the 
use of reserves. These include: 

 Safety and accommodation works at Priory Road (£92k), 
 South Holland Centre (£204k)
 Ayscoughfee Hall fire safety works (£53k), and
 Sports buildings and equipment (£82k).

Page 24



5.3.2 Further details on the movement in Reserves are set out in Appendix A - Table 3 to this 
report.    

5.3.3 The net underspend on the General Fund of £632k was primarily supported by £582k of 
additional financing income from Government Section 31 Grants and Retained Business 
Rates. There were also a number of under and over budget variances across service 
budgets which provides a net additional underspend of £50k.
 

5.3.4 The revenue outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A - Table 1 together 
with an analysis of service variations.  The major variations are as follows:

 Staffing vacancies ahead of recruitment within Planning Policy and Strategy and 
Housing Development  (£93k),

 Reduced spend on professional fees (£57k) due to re-profiling of projects within the 
Delivery Unit. 

 B&B Accommodation spend has increased in response to the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and attracts subsidy up to a capped level, the addional net cost to the 
Council of this is £181k .

 Additional income from Planning Fees (£249k), Building Control Fees (£25K) and 
Consultancy Fees (£18k). £71k of planning fee income has been moved to reserves 
as this relates to the amount that must be earmarked for future spend on the 
planning service. 

 Reduced spend on planning employees and professional fees (£92k).
 Environmental Services income lower than budget by £159k across green waste, 

markets and car parking. Service running costs higher than budget by £157k across 
fuel premises, insurance and employees. 

 Additional costs of £71k incurred on staffing, software and B&B in response to the 
Homelessness Reduction Act.

 Additional income on investments (£73k) arising from increased interest rates and 
higher levels of reserves than budgeted. 

 A £50k budget correction for the value of Decent Homes work to be funded from 
reserves.

 A reduction in the value of the allowance for bad debts (£258k) due to a review of 
significant balances in respect of Housing Benefit overpayments and Council Tax.

 Moving Forward savings target correction and net overspends of £23k across other 
services due to increased costs.

5.3.5 It is recommended that the net General Fund underspend of £632k be transferred to the 
Council Tax Reserve.

5.4 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.4.1 The HRA delivered an in year underspend of £684k. This was mainly due to:
 Additional rental income compared to that budgeted (£101k).
 Reduced costs of repairs and maintenance (£175k) due to some delays in projects 

and other reduced service costs.
 Supervision and Management costs lower than budget (£179k) due to reduced 

professional fees, furniture and equipment cost and other net savings.
 Depreciation costs higher than budget by £135k.
 The required bad debt provision was less than budget (£115k). The impact of 

Universal Credit less than anticipated.
 Additional interest rate income (£68k).

More detail is provided at Appendix A - Tables 2.

Page 25



5.5 Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.5.1 General Fund Specific Reserves have increased by £1.084m from £7.618m to £8.702m. 
£632k of this increase relates to the transfer of the year end underspend to the Council Tax 
reserve.

5.5.2 Reserves were used to support a number of planned expenditure items and to support new 
budget pressures. There were also areas where reserves were not used as budgeted, such 
as for Moving Forward expenditure and where additional unbudgeted contributions were 
made to reserves, such as through grant money (G4G and homelessness) and the 
movement of some planning income to reserves. Further details are set out in Appendix A 
- Table 3.

5.5.3 The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.  During 2019/20 a review of the 
level of the General Fund Reserve will be carried out relative to the Council’s overall risks 
and members will be informed if any change is proposed to the level of this reserve.  

5.5.4 The HRA General Reserve balance at 31st March 2019 is £16.575m. The Major Repairs 
balance has reduced from £6.43m to £4.68m as a result of capital funding requirements in 
excess of the annual contribution from Depreciation. More detail is provided at Appendix A 
– Table 4.

5.6 Capital – General Fund

5.6.1 The total General Fund Capital Programme for 2018/19 was £5.522m of which £5.220m 
had received specific scheme approval. Compared to the approved budget, in year spend 
totalled £3.678m, giving an underspend of £1.542m.  The main areas of underspend relate 
to Disabled Facility and Decent Homes Grants, Welland Homes, Grants for Growth, Leisure 
Management and provisional investment in capital acquisitions for commercial growth.   
Unspent DFG grant will be carried forward into reserves for future use. Other schemes 
have experienced delays in scheme starts and will require slippage of budget into the 
2019/20 capital programme. Revisions totalling £1.38m are recommended for approved 
schemes giving a revised 2019/20 programme of £7.394m  The capital programme has 
been revised to reflect the status of planned programmes at 31st March 2019 and is 
included at Appendix A.

5.6.2 Appendix A – Table 5 provides more information on the 2018/19 General Fund capital 
outturn position, how it was funded and the variances from budget. Table 6 provides details 
of the revised 2019/20 capital programme as a result of required slippage of underspent 
budgets. 

5.6.3 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2019/20 General Fund Capital 
Programme, as set out at Appendix A table 6, of £8.185m.

5.6.4 During 2019/20 there will be new emerging capital project funding requirements. Any 
required ammendments to the capital programme will be presented in the Quarter 1 report 
for 2019/20.

Page 26



5.7 Capital – HRA

5.7.1 The total HRA Capital programme for 2018/19 was £7.715m all of which had received 
specific scheme approval. Against this approved budget in-year spend totalled £4.885m, an 
underspend of £2.83m. The main reasons for this underspend relate to delays in the new 
build affordable housing programme (£1.564m), underspends of (£0.641m) on the decent 
homes programme (mainly heating, electrical and chimneys) and delayed delivery of CSU 
vehicle replacements (£0.253m). 

5.7.2 Appendix A – Table 7 provides more information on the HRA capital outturn position, how 
it was funded and the variances from budget. The revised HRA capital programme for 
2019/20 as a result of required slippage in unspent budget (£2.343m) is provided at Table 
8 and totals £14.875m. 

5.7.3 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2019/20 HRA Capital Programme, as 
set out at Appendix A table 8, of £14.875m 

5.8 Capital - Other

5.8.1 During 2018/19 the Council received £1.381m in capital receipts, £1.341m of which related 
to the HRA. There were 21 houses sold under Right to Buy.  More detail is provided at 
Appendix A. 

5.8.2 Appendix A - Table 9 also sets out the Council’s ongoing capital financing requirement, 
the measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing requirement. This has increased due to 
major capital programmes for Welland Homes, Crease Drove Industrial Units and additional 
funding for Growth and commercialisation projects.   

5.9 Treasury Management

5.9.1 Appendix A provides more information on the investments held by the Council at 31 March 
2018 (£42.9m). The average investments held during the year were £43.2m.

5.9.2 Interest earned on investments in 2018/19 was £431k (compared to the budget of £258k).  
This increase can be attributed to higher levels of investment balances being held, higher 
than anticipated interest rate levels during the second half of the financial year and interest 
income from additional loans to Welland Homes.

5.9.3 Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position.  More information on 
Treasury Management is available in the Treasury Annual Report which was considered by 
Governance and Audit Committee on 6 June, and will be considered by Full Council on 31 
July 2019.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1       Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

Page 27



7 ACRONYMS

7.1 GF General Fund
HRA Housing Revenue Account
RTB Right to Buy
ICT Information and Communications Technology
MTFP Medium term Financial Plan

Background papers: The 2017/18 Estimates Report to Council February 2017
                                               The 2018/19 Estimates Report to Council February 2018

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post: Carl Holland; Strategic Business Partner  
Telephone Number
Email: carl.holland@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Financial report for 2018/19 with details of the GF and HRA revenue 

spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 28



 

1

APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the Year Ending 31 March 2019 

General Fund Revenue Outturn

The total General Fund (GF) budget requirement for the year was £12,959k as approved by 
Council on 8 March 2018.

The GF outturn position is an underspend of £632k (Table 1). This position required some 
support from reserves for unplanned expenditure. The use of reserves to support the budget 
is detailed at Table 4. The significant variances from budget that have contributed to the GF 
outturn position are detailed in Table 2 below.

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn

Service Area
Note Budget

£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000

Commercialisation
Commercialisation 1 397 244 (153)
Economic Development 2 122 151 29
Finance 3 522 505 (17)
Revenues and Benefits 4 297 478 181
Total – Commercialisation 1,337 1,378 (41)

Place
Assets and Property 5 (37) (6) 31
Building Control 6 22 (18) (40)
Community Development 1,116 1,120 4
Environmental Services 7 3,084 3,343 259
Housing 8 181 255 74
Planning 9 (226) (495) (269)
Investment properties (90) (87) 3
Spalding Special Expenses 10 41 27 (14)
Total - Place 4,090 4,138 48

Strategy and Governance
Corporate Improvement and Performance 127 136 9
Moving Forward 11 103 - 103
Communications 124 126 2
Corporate Management 12 562 584 22
Democratic Services 13 996 1037 41
HR 14 741 730 (11)
Public Protection 413 421 8
IT and Customer Services 15 1,174 1145 (29)
Total - Strategy and Governance 4,034 4,179 145

Statutory recharge to the HRA for 
support services (*) (1,461) (1,465) (4)

Page 29



 

2

Service Area
Note Budget

£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000

Internal Drainage Boards & Parish 
Precepts 3,178 3,179 1
Investment Income 16 (229) (302) (73)
Transfers to Reserves 17 1,814 1,864 50
Increase/ (Decrease) in Impairment 
Allowance 18 196 (62) (258)
Total Cost of Services 12,959 12,909 (50)

Financing
Government Grants 19 (2,213) (2,457) (244)
Council Tax (5,721) (5,721) -
Retained Business Rates 20 (5,025) (5,363) (338)
Total Financing (12,959) (13,541) (582)

Variance - (632) (632)
Support service recharges are a non-controllable cost to budget holders, and are therefore not reported 
as part of the service analysis above.
(*) An adjusting line has been added to show the value of recharges to the HRA, for support services 
and corporate management (including the debt management recharge); a corresponding debit entry is 
showing in the HRA table below.

Notes to Table 1:

1. Commercialisation (£153k) underspent.
 Planning Policy is underspent by £49k due to vacant posts partially off-set by 

agency staff and recruitment costs.
 Strategy and Enabling is underspent by £44k due to delays in recruitment 

partially off-set by agency staff costs, reduced Shared Management income 
and reduced recharges to the HRA, Capital and Welland Homes

 Lower spend on professional fees for Delivery Unit (£57k) due to re-profiling of 
project timescales.

2. Economic Development +£29k Overspent.
 Lower than anticipated rechargeable costs against Grants4Growth grant 

claims.

3. Finance (£17k) Underspent.
 EU exit grant received from MHCLG (£17k) included on outturn surplus to be 

earmarked in reserves for use on Environmental Services and Food Safety.
 Insurance costs lower than budgeted (£7k) as a result fo the recharge basis 

and Internal Audit fees lower than budgeted by (£7k). 
 This is offset by an increased cost of bank charges £8.5k and other office 

supply costs of £4.5k.

4. Revenues and Benefits +£181k Overspent.
 Increased spend on B&B accommodation for Homelessness following the 

introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, which only attracts subsidy 
up to capped limits, amounts over the cap are at a cost to the Council. 

 This pressure has been offset by higher than budgeted court cost income and 
council tax penalties (£30k) and NDR court income (£24k).

Page 30



 

3

5. Assets and Property +£30k overspent.
 Industial unit vacancies in year reduced rental income to a net 

underachievement of £8k,
 Programmed maintenance and Supplies and services overspent £17k and 

claim paid out £9k.

6. Building Control (£40k) underspent.
 Building control fees favourable (£25k). 
 Lower contractor costs for external plan checking now being carried out in-

house (£18k).

7. Environmental Services +£259k.
 Car park income below budget £75k resulting from delay in replacement of car 

park machine and reduction in car parking ticket purchases.
 Garden Waste income £63k below budget, due to phased implementation 

partially offset by reduced marketing spend (£35k).
 Markets income down £21k due to decreased uptake of market stall rentals 

throughout the year.
 Additonal income recharged for grass cutting (£30k).
 Unachieved salary effieiciency target £71k as a result of operational teams not 

being able to carry vacancies.
 Collection of sharps costs increased £14k due to increased demand.
 Fuel costs overspend £46k, additional insurance recharges £21k and 
 General utilities and service running costs over budget by £27k across 

premises, insurance and employee costs.

8. Housing +£74k overspent
 Additional resourcing requirements for the team, employees £48k and 

software £10k, due to additional work as a result of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act, partially funded from government grants. 

 Homelessness B & B Accommodation up significantly due to the implications 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act.

9. Planning (£269k) underspent.
 Planning Application fees have increased by (£249k) of which £71k transferred 

to reserves (20% additional fee increase).
 Lower than anticipated spend on employees and professional fees (£92k) due 

to in-house provision and lower than budgeted demand.

10. Spalding Special Expenses (£14k)  underspent. 
 The budget for this activity is financed by a charge to residents of Spalding and 

its earmarked reserves and should balance over time. In doing so the budget 
and spend includes support service recharges when calculating the year-end 
position and the amount of contribution from the reserve. The contribution from 
the Spalding Special Reserve is £26k to cover costs of Halley Stewart urgent 
rewire, contingency for water mains pipe repair and lower than budgeted 
income from Ayscoughfee Gardens. The figures in the table above exclude 
recharges but include the full amount of reserve contribution, resulting in the 
favourable balance of (£14k).

11. Moving Forward +£103k  overspent.
 Value of Moving Forward saving target.

Page 31



 

4

12. Corporate Management +£22k overspent.
 Recruitment fees £14k and additional supplies and service support costs for 

management administration £6k.

13. Democratic Services +£49k overspent.
 Procurement Savings of £34k have been accounted for in the relevant other 

service areas. 
 Members National Insurance costs £15k.

14. Human Resources (£11k) underspent.
 Staff training costs are under budget £5k and employee costs are under budget 

£5k due to later than budgeted apprenticeship recruitment.

15. IT and Customer Services (£29k) underspent.
 A net underspend on IT maintenance and contractor costs.

16. Investment Income (£73k) underspent.
 Higher than anticipated interest rates available in the market during the second 

half of the financial year and higher than anticipated levels of investment 
balances.

17. Transfer to Reserves +£50k  overspent. 
 The value budgeted in relation to funding of works under the Decent Homes 

Standard was understated by £50k for 2018/19.

18. Decrease in Impairment allowance (£258k) underspent.
 The provision for bad debt has been reviewed on the basis of better than 

anticipated performance of overpaid housing benefits with lower than 
anticipated impact of changes from Universal Credit at this time.

19. Government Grants (£244k) underspent.
 Gains on S31 grants as a result of multiplier calculation change (£186k), 

additional grant regarding discretionary relief not budgeted for.

20. Retained Business Rates (£338k) underspent.
 (£17k) gain from renewable energy from 17/18 released in 18/19. The Council 

was required to pay an additional tariff of £331k to the government due to a 
change in the business rates revaluation adjustment. This was a late 
notification as part of the settlement for 2018/19 and it was budgeted for as part 
of the 2018/19 budget. However, as part of the closure of the 2017/18 accounts 
this was accrued back into the 2017/18 accounts. CIPFA issued advice that 
this is how it should be treated in the 2017/18 accounts as the adjustment 
related to the revaluation with effect from 1 April 2017.  This accrual provided 
a positive benefit for 2018/19. 

Page 32



 

5

Housing Revenue Account

Table 2 – HRA Revenue Outturn
The outturn for the HRA shows a favourable position of £684,000 underspend.

Notes to Table 2:

1. Rent Income Dwellings (£101k) additional income.

2. Charges for Services and Facilities (£40k) underspent – Lifeline income within 
sheltered housing is £55k above budget. Income from Community centres is demand 
driven and is forecasting to be £18k below budget.

3. Contributions to Expenditure – +£26k overspent - £10k recharge of costs to outside 
bodies is recovered under repairs and maintenance below, court income £20k lower. 

4. Repairs and Maintenance (£175k) underspent – Underspend on Professional and 
Contractors fees due to projects delayed. Responsive and Void maintenance cost were 
lower than expected. There were also savings on vehicle lease costs. 

5. Supervision and Management (£179k) underspent – Professional Fees on Housing 
Enabling underspend (£90k) as projects behind plan due to management changes. 
Furniture and equipment under budget (£53k) as large replacement undertaken last year 
therefore not required this year, and no Ground Maintenance costs within community 
centres as included in staff allocations (£27k). Further savings on repairs (£86k), due to 
management changes during the year. The underspend was reduced by contributions 
for for the HRA Accountant £47k, which was agreed to be funded by the HRA, post last 
year’s budget, and a General Fund charge for £30k for footpath lighting.

Service Area Note Budget
£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000

Rent Income - Dwellings 1 (14,713) (14,814) (101)
Charges for Services and Facilities 2 (1,154) (1,194) (40)
Contributions to Expenditure 3 (37) (11) 26
Total Income (15,904) (16,019) (115)

Repairs and Maintenance 4 3,156 2,981 (175)
Supervision and Management 5 2,693 2,514 (179)
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 6 78 59 (19)
Depreciation 7 2,923 3,058 135
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 1,461 1,465 4
Total Expenditure 10,311 10,077 (234)
Contribution from Operations (5,593) (5,942) (349)

Movement in the allowance for bad debts 8 169 54 (115)
Investment Income 9 (62) (130) (68)
Interest Payable on £67.456m 2,347 2,347 -
Capital expenditure charged in year - - -
Transfer to MRR and Other Adjustments 10 - (152) (152)
    
Net (Surplus)/Deficit (3,139) (3,823) (684)

Page 33



 

6

6. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£19k) underspent– Actual levels for 
sheltered housing council tax less than budgeted and budgeted charges for Short Street 
not materialising.

7. Depreciation – +£135k Overspent. Effect of revaluations, additional ICT Infrastructure 
last year and amortisation of Intangible assets.

8. Movement in the allowance for bad debts (£115k) underspent – Budget was set high 
due to unknown impact of universal credit, position will continued to be monitored. 

9. Investment Income (£68k) additional income - Increased interest rate returns.

10. Transfer to MRR and Other Adjustments (£152k) – These are year end Statutory 
Adjustments, which include, Pension fund adjustments, revaluation adjustments and 
gains on sale of property.

Page 34



 

7

RESERVES

Reserve Balance 
31 

March 
2018
£'000

Contributions 
to Reserve

£'000

Use of 
Reserve

£'000

Balance 
31 

March 
2019
£'000

Comments

Transformation (599) - 300 (299) Use – Leisure Provision Play Strategy £16k; 
Asset Review £60k; EMT Development £4k; 
Strategic Property advice £22k; Senior Policy 
Advisor £23k; National Graduate Trainee Scheme 
£19k; Public Protection Commercialisation £10k; 
Car Park machines £40k; iTrent Phase 3 £6k; 
Priory Road self-serve portals £7k; GIS system 
£10k; Smart Screens £28k; Interim Programme 
Manager £17k; Public Protection Software £38k.

Investment and Growth (5,218) (1,078) 807 (5,489) Contributions - Planning Fee Income £71k; New 
Homes Bonus £1,007k 
Uses –  Green Waste £250k; HIF Programme 
Manager £65k; Northern Spalding SUE £5k; 
Priory Road Accommodation £10k; Leisure 
Sports Equipment  £50k; Leisure Contract 
Contract mobilisation £65k; External Grants Staff 
£16k; Asset Review £38k; Delivery Unit, Planning 
for Growth £15k; Priory Road £92k; Grounds 
Maintenance Equipment £33k.

Earmarked Grants (313) (128) 47 (394) Contributions – Flexible Homelessness Support 
Grant £96k;  DCLG Custom Build Grant £30k; 

Table 3 – General Fund Reserves

P
age 35



 

8

Reserve Balance 
31 

March 
2018
£'000

Contributions 
to Reserve

£'000

Use of 
Reserve

£'000

Balance 
31 

March 
2019
£'000

Comments

S106 net contribution £2k
Uses - DCLG Custom Build Grant £4k; Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant £43k;  

Council Tax (1,299) (1,557) 508 (2,348)  Contributions – Business Rates Surplus 
2018/19 £722k; Grants for Growth Receipts 
£196k; Elections Receipts £4k; General Fund 
Surplus £632k; Members Budgets £3k.
Uses – Pride in South Holland £119k; Sports 
Centre Maintenance £13k; Members ICT £26k; 
Data Protection Staff (shared) £23k; Members 
Budgets £78k; South Holland Centre Emergency 
Works £204k; Electric Vehicle charging points 
£2k; Spalding Town Forum £26k; South Holland 
Centre Equipment £17k.

Replacement and 
Refurbishment

(189) (141) 158 (172) Contributions –  Budget Contribution £136k; 
Power Station Equipment Receipts £5k.
Uses – Ayscoughfee Hall Fire Safety £53k; 
Condition Surveys £9k; Leisure Feasibilty £32k; 
Planned use of Reserve in support of annual 
programme £64k.

Total Specific Reserves (7,618) (2,904) 1,820 (8,702)  
General Reserve (2,078) - - (2,078)  
Total Reserves (9,696) (2,904) 1,820 (10,780)  

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves

P
age 36



 

9

Balance 
31 March 

2018
Contributions 

to Reserve
Use of  

Reserve

Balance 
31 March 

2019
Comments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

HRA Working Balance: (12,752) (3,823) 0 (16,575) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve

HRA Insurance Reserve (200) 0 0 (200)

Major Repairs Reserve (6,435) (3,058) 4,809 (4,684) HRA depreciation contribution to MRR is 
used to fund the capital programme in 
future years.  The transfer from MRR in-
year was used to fund 18/19 capital 
programme spend

(19,387) (6,881) 4,809 (21,459)P
age 37



 

10

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 5 – General Fund Capital Outturn

Project
Note Budget

2018/19
£’000

Actual 
Outturn
2018/19

£’000

Variance  
(under)/   

overspend
£’000

Disabled Facilities Grants 1 585 341 (244)
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 17 (58)
Welland Homes 2 1,708 1,603 (105)
ICT Infrastructure 3 205 188 (17)
Digital Vision 27 28 1
Office 365 Additional Spend 4 45 0 (45)
GIS System 18 20 2
Grants for Growth 5 896 605 (291)
Garden Waste (bins and vehicle) 6 181 160 (21)
Car Park Machines 46 40 (6)
Crowland Play Equipment (S106) 7 153 153
Grounds Maintenance 38 33 (5)
SHDC Self Service Reception 10 7 (3)
Shared Public Protection Software 8 109 76 (33)
Members ICT Equipment Refresh 9 45 26 (19)
Priory Road 10 160 92 (68)
Priory Road Fire Doors & Access 10 24 - (24)
South Holland Centre 11 250 204 (46)
Castle Sports – Boiler 18 13 (5)
South Holland Centre Light Desk 12 17 17 -
Castle Sports Equipment 13 50 50 -
Capital Acquisitions re Growth & 
Commercialisation

500 - (500)

Asset Investment 14 143 (143)
Crease Drove 15 70 5 (65)
Total Approved Schemes 5,220 3,678 (1,542)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 302 193 109
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,620 1,164 456
Internal Borrowing 1,708 1,603 105
Revenue Resources 1,590 718 872

5,220 3,678 1,542
Schemes Subject to Approval
Digital vision 302 - (302)
Total 302 - (302)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts (302) - 302

(302) - 302

Total All Schemes 5,522 3,678 (1,844)

Page 38



 

11

Notes to Table 5:

1. Disabled Facilities Grants (£244k) – Forecast expenditure is based upon current 
scheme referrals from LCC. (Any unused grant is transferred to the Capital Grants 
unapplied reserve for future spend).

2. Welland Homes (£105k) - £253k in shares and £467k loan re Tenants Close, £884k 
Re Pankhurst Close (Parkside).

 
3. ICT Infrastructure (£17k) -  Office 365 Project to be carried forward to 2019/20 

remaining Budget to be re-profiled to 2019-20.
 

4. Office 365 Additional Spend (£45K) – Amendment to the Capital programme to 
support deployment of Office 365,project continues into 2019/20.

5. Grants for Growth (£291k) - Additional spend supported by grant income.

6. Garden Waste bins and vehicles (£21k) -  Spend continues into 2019/20 to support 
costs for any project expansion.

7. Crowland Play Equipment (£153k) – S106 monies assigned whilst works are 
prepared.

8. Shared Public protection System (£33k) – This project continues delivery into 
2019/20.

9. Members ICT Equipment Refresh (£19k) – Equipment purchased and some 
commitments have been  supplied in the 2019/20 financial year.

10. Priory Road Schemes (£92k) – Project commitments were pending detailed design 
and commissioning and therefore have run into 2019/20.

11. South Holland Centre (£46k) – Essential work progressed and further works 
reprioritised for 2019/20.

12. South Holland Centre Light Desk £17k – Essential equipment replacement.

13. Castle Sports Equipment £50k- Costs to support transition of assets as a result of 
service provider changes.

14. Asset Investment £143k) – Leisure management investment to follow detailed plan 
due in 2019/20.

15. Crease Drove (£65k) – Scheme to take place during 2019/20.

As a result of the above project activity to the 31 March 2019, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2019-20 is updated as follows in Table 6 and is recommended for approval 
by Full Council.

Page 39



 

12

Table 6  – General Fund Capital Programme Revised 2019/20

Project
Original 
Budget
2019/20

£’000

Budget 
c/f

2018/19
£’000

Revised 
Budget
2019/20

£’000
Disabled Facilities Grants 585 - 585
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 - 75
Welland Homes 2,837 105 2,942
ICT Infrastructure 65 17 82
Grants for Growth 86 291 377
Office 365 Additional Spend - 45 45
Members ICT Equipment Refresh - 19 19
Garden Waste - 21 21
South Holland Centre - 46 46
Priory Road 137 68 205
Priory Road Tenancy - 83 83
Priory Road Fire Doors & Access 24 24
SHDC Self service Reception - 3 3
Shared Public Protection Software 34 33 67
Crease Drove Industrial Project 1,130 65 1,195
Grounds Maintenance 35 - 35
Food Enterprise Zone 300 - 300
Electric Vehicle Charging 17 - 17
Capital Acquisitions re Growth and 
Commercialisation

500 500 1,000

CPBS Transformation Investment 60% GF 213 - 213
Leisure Management investment - 143 143
Total Approved Schemes 6,014 1,463 7,477

Financed By:
Capital Receipts (295) (70) (365)
Capital Grants and Contributions (780) - (780)
Internal Borrowing (2,837) (105) (2,942)
Revenue Resources (2,102) (1,288) (3,390)

(6,014) (1,463) (7,477)
Schemes Subject to Approval
Food Enterprise Zone 791 - 791
Total 791 - 791

Financed By:
Revenue Resources (791) (791)

(791) - (791)

Total All Schemes 6,805 1,463 8,268

Page 40



 

13

Table 7 – Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

Project
Budget
2018/19

£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000

Variance
(under)/

overspend
£’000

Note

Central Heating Upgrade 1,613 1,379 (234) 1
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,169 1,248 79 1
Electrical Upgrade 156 46 (110) 1
Gutters 263 328 65
Council House – Re-Roofing 425 352 (73) 1
Doors & Windows 3 - (3)
Chimneys 252 2 (250)
Paths & Drives 36 6 (30)
Boundary Walls 90 5 (85) 1
Fees 202 202 - 1
Decent Homes 4,209 3,568 (641)

Sewerage Treatment Plant 100 96 (4) 2
The Square 187 99 (88)
Car Parks 65 - (65) 2
Major Area Schemes 352 195 (157)

ICT Strategy 51 - (51) 3
ICT Infrastructure 150 41 (109) 3
IT/System 201 41 (160)

Major Adaptions 408 353 (55) 4
Aids & Adaptions 408 353 (55)

CSU Vehicle Replacement 253 - (253) 5
CSU Vehicle Replacement 253 - (253) 5

Grounds Maintenance 12 12 -
Environmental Services 12 12 -

Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove 250 217 (33) 6
Severn Road Development 30 - (30) 6
Purchase of Units – Ashwood Homes 2,000 499 (1,501) 7
Total Approved Schemes 2,280 716 (1,564)

Total Approved Schemes 7715 4,885 (2,830)
Financed By:
Capital Receipts (604) (76) (528)
Direct Revenue Funding -
Major Repairs Reserve (7,111) (4,809) (2,302)
Grants and Contributions -

(7,715) (4,885) (2,830)

Page 41



 

14

Notes to Table 7:
1. Decent Homes (£641k) – Contracts delayed in respect of Chimneys, Paths and Drives 

and Boundary Walls. Central heating underspend due to prior year adjustment. Kitchen 
and Bathroom programme overspend due to higher than anticipated programme 
works, and additional Electrical upgrades within the Kitchen refits. Electrical upgrades 
underspend due to the works being included within other areas (Heating and Kitchens 
& Bathrooms). Of the Decent homes underspend, only the £234k underspend on 
Central Heating will need to be carried forward. There are sufficient funds in the 
2019/20 budget to cover the planned programme.

2. Major Area Schemes (£157k) – Window replacement in the scheme was deferred 
and £88k will be carried forward to 2019/20.  The need to tender for works to Car Parks 
related to £40k of the £65k underspend being carried forward to 2019-20. £4k 
underspend on Sewage Treatment works will also be carried forward for planned 
works.

3. ICT / System (£160k) -  implementation of an upgrade to Northgate Housing IT 
system, continues into spend to 2019-20.

4. Aids & Adaptations (£55k) – Programme is demand-led due to the nature of the 
works which relate to the health and ability of funding applicants and suitability of 
property.

5. CSU Vehicle Replacement – The procurement process and delivery lead time has 
resulted in a delivery due date of July 2019 with budget to be carried forward.

6. New Build (£63k) – Small Drove Weston Project started and due for completion in 
2019-20. Severn Road Development has been budgeted for 2019/20 budget to allow 
development of detailed plans and decision.

7. Purchase of Units (£1,501k) – Underspend due to re-phasing in number of units for 
acquisition over 2 years. Included in 2019/20 and 2020/21 budgets.

Page 42



 

15

As a result of the above project activity to the 31 March 2019, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2019-20 is updated as follows in Table 8 and is recommended for approval 
by Full Council.

Table 8 – Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Revised 2019/20

Project

Original 
Budget
2019/20

£’000

Budget
c/f

2018/19
£’000

Revised 
Budget
2019/20

£’000
Central Heating Upgrade 820 234 1,054
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,192 1192
Electrical Upgrade 75 75
Gutters 269 26
Council House – Re-Roofing 525 525
Roofs & Gutters 525 525
Flat Entrance Doors  Sheltered Schemes 150 150
Chimneys 252 252
Paths & Drives 36 36
Boundary Walls 92 92
Fees 206 206
Decent Homes 3,617 234 3,851

Sewerage Treatment Plant 200 4 204
The Square 250 88 338
Car Parks 25 65 65
Major Area Schemes 475 132 607

ICT Strategy 35 35
Housing IT Systems Upgrade 250 160 410
CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA 142 142
IT/System 427 160 587

Major Adaptions 382 382
Aids & Adaptions 382 382
CSU Vehicle Replacement 253 253 506
CSU Vehicle Replacement 253 253 506

Grounds Maintenance 12 - 12
Environmental Services 12 12

Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove 3,683 33 3,716
Severn Road Development 2,900 30 2,930
Purchase of Units – Ashwood Homes 783 1,501 2,284
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval -
Affordable Housing 7,366 1,564 8,930

Total Approved Schemes 12,532 2,343 14,875

Page 43



 

16

Original 
Budget
2019/20

£’000

Budget
c/f

2018/19
£’000

Revised 
Budget
2019/20

£’000
Financed By:
Capital Receipts (223) (223)
Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds (210) (210)
Direct Revenue Funding (3,447) (2,087) (5,534)
Major Repairs Reserve (7,552) (256) (7,808)
Grants and Contributions (1,100) (1,100)

(12,532) (2,343) (14,875)

Capital Receipts

There were 21 right-to-buy sales during 2018/19, resulting in total net receipts for the year of 
£1.341m, before administration costs and pooling payments. There was a further £5k of land 
sales during 2018/19. There were no General Fund Receipts and the balance at 31 March 
2019 is £635k.

Capital Receipts £'000
RTB Sales (1,341)
Recovered RTB Discount (8)
Mortgages Payment Received (1)
Loan Payment Received (1)
Grants repaid (30)
Total (1,381)

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

Table 9 below shows the CFR which is a prudential indicator and shows the underlying need 
to borrow, based on the actual position at the end of 2018/19. Where the CFR is positive it 
denotes the need to borrow.

The CFR movement increases over previous years due to programmes relating to Welland 
Homes (£1.2m increase over 2018/19), Crease Drove Industrial Units (£1.195m new for 
2019/20) and funding to be programmed for Growth and Commercialisation (£500k additional 
over 2018/19)

Table 9 – Capital Financing Requirement

2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

CFR – Non HRA 2,557 3,847 5,555 8,615
CFR – HRA 68,609 68,439 68,439 68,439

Total 71,166 72,286 73,994 77,054

Movement in CFR 1,274 1,120 1,708 3,060

Page 44



 

17

Treasury 

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 
Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating 
calculated for each financial institution.

All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.  

The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties 
excluding accrued interest.  

CCLA, £3,000,000

Close Brothers, 
£2,500,000

Coventry Building 
Society, 

£3,000,000

Credit Agricole 
Corporate & 

Investment Bank, 
£3,000,000

Goldman Sachs, 
£3,000,000

Lancashire County 
Council, 

£3,000,000Lloyds Bank, 
£2,871,584

Municipal Bonds 
Agency, £50,000

National 
Westminster Bank, 

£2,500,000

Rabobank, 
£3,000,000

Standard 
Chartered Bank, 

£3,000,000

Svenska 
Handelsbanken, 

£1,974,695

Toronto Dominion 
Bank, £2,500,000

Welland Homes 
Equity, £1,129,678

Welland Homes 
Long Term Debtor, 

£2,880,037

Counterparty Exposure

Cash

The Council’s average level of treasury deposits during 2018/19 was £43.2m and non-
treasury deposits was £1.9m.  As at 31 March 2019 investments held were £42.9m of which 
£5.35m was instant access cash available to meet cash flow requirements.  Other 
investments based on cost were made up of:

£33.5m - short term investments up to 12 months
£1.13m - Welland Homes equity
£50k – Municipal Bond Agency Equity
£2.88m - loans to Welland Homes 

Page 45



 

18

The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity. 

C
al

l

< 
1 

M
on

th

1-
3 

M
on

th
s

3-
6 

M
on

th
s

6-
9 

M
on

th
s

9-
12

 M
on

th
s

> 
12

 M
on

th
s

0

3,000,000

6,000,000

9,000,000

12,000,000

Maturity Structure of Investments

Maturity Period

£

Yield

Budgeted Interest 2018/19               £258k (£196k Gen.Fund and £62k HRA)   
Actual Interest achieved 2018/19          £431k (£301k Gen.Fund and £130k HRA)
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.675%
Actual Yield achieved for 2017/18 0.956%
Actual Yield achieved for 2016/17 0.622%

The increased levels of investment interest achieved can be attributed to higher levels of 
investment balances being held, higher than anticipated interest rate levels during the 
second half of the financial year and the increase in the amount of interest received resulting 
from additional loans being made to Welland Homes.

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year.

Year End Accounting

Following the introduction of IFRS9 Financial Instruments in 2018/19 the Council is required 
to measure its equity investments at Fair Value.  This has resulted in the Council’s long term 
equity in Welland Homes increasing by £400k and the South Holland Local Housing 
Community Interest Company equity increasing by £1m on the balance sheet.

Page 46



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) - Mark Stinson

To: Cabinet – 18 June 2019

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Appointment of Panels and Working Parties

Purpose: To consider the appointment of Panels and Working Parties 

Recommendations:

1) That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for 2019-2023 without amendment 
to its terms of reference; and substitutions be permitted (including for the Portfolio Holder 
with responsibility for ICT) where members form part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated 
representative submitting details to the Executive Manager for Governance by noon on the 
day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the earlier; 

2) That the Portfolio Holder Decision by the Leader of the Council to re-establish the Pre-
application Consultation Group for the period 2019-2023 without amendment to its terms of 
reference be noted; 

3) That membership of both of the above be agreed, following nominations provided by Group 
leaders; and

4) That the Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee is not re-established, but that 
a non decision making group be established in due course, with a wider remit to oversee 
corporate assets generally, the terms of reference of which to be approved by the Leader.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In accordance with the Constitution, the Council at its annual meeting on 15 May 2019 was 
asked to decide which Panels and Working Parties to establish for the municipal year, and 
their size and terms of reference.

2.0 COUNCIL DECISIONS

2.1 Article 4 and Part 3 (Delegations) within the Constitution detail which functions of the 
authority are functions of the full Council, and which are functions of the Cabinet.

2.2 Some of the Panels and Working Parties deal with executive functions only, others deal 
with non-executive functions (such as budget and policy framework issues).  Whilst the 
Council is responsible for adopting and amending the budget and policy framework, the 
Cabinet is able to make recommendations to full Council in respect of non-executive 
functions.  Some Panels and Working Parties are therefore established by the Cabinet to 
assist the Cabinet in making recommendations to the Council. It is therefore appropriate for 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9.



Cabinet to determine whether such Panels or Working Parties should be re-established 
and, if so, to determine their terms of reference and composition.

2.3 Full details of the Panels and Working Parties, together with details of their existing terms 
of reference are detailed below.  Membership for the period 2019-23 would be agreed by 
Group leaders, and confirmed at the Cabinet meeting on 18 June 2019.

 2.3.1 ICT Councillor Working Group (Working Group to report directly to the Cabinet)

COMPOSITION:  7 Councillors comprising the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT, 
together with 6 other members based on cross party member involvement.  The political 
group regulations do not apply.  

TERMS OF REFERENCE:  (No executive powers.) To provide a wider more strategic remit 
with the following scope:

• The Role of ICT in the organisation;
• New technology – strategic positioning;
• ICT support – general performance, not individual problems;
• Progress with larger projects; and
• ICT Security and Governance.

SUBSTITUTIONS:  Substitutions are permitted (including for the Portfolio Holder with 
responsibility for ICT) where members form part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated 
representative submitting details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day 
of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the earlier.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for the 
municipal year without amendment to its terms of reference as detailed above; that 
substitutions be permitted (including for the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT) 
where members form part of a political group subject to (i) substitutions applying for 
individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated representative submitting 
details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at 
least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the earlier.

Membership for the period 2019-23 would be agreed by Group leaders, and confirmed at 
the Cabinet meeting on 18 June 2019.

2.3.2 Pre-Application Consultation Group (Non-executive/Council function – but Cabinet 
advises/makes recommendations to Council)

COMPOSITION:  12 councillors appointed in accordance with the political group 
regulations (although it is not necessary to appoint in accordance with political group 
regulations as the Consultation Group has no executive powers and cannot therefore make 
any decisions, only recommendations) plus appropriate officers with the power to co-opt 
relevant ward members and portfolio holders in an advisory role.  There is no restriction on 
whether members of the Consultation Group must be members of the Planning Committee.

TERMS OF REFERENCE:  (No executive powers) To assess and advise on the likely
planning considerations in respect of significant planning proposals at both pre-application

Page 48



and post-decision stages. To provide a forum at which ward members can be informed
about significant proposals likely to affect people in their wards and to enable them to
consult and report back on such proposals.

SUBSTITUTIONS:  Substitutions are permitted where members form part of a political 
group subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group 
leader or nominated representative submitting details to the Executive Manager 
Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, 
whichever is the earlier.

RECOMMENDATION:  None – members are asked to note that a Portfolio Holder Decision 
has been taken by the Leader of the Council to re-establish the Pre-Application 
Consultation Group as detailed above. It was also agreed that membership for the period 
2019-23 be agreed between Group leaders, and confirmed at the Cabinet meeting on 18 
June 2019.

2.3.3 Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee

The Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee was established by the Cabinet 
at its meeting on 14 February 2017, to provide strategic steer and monitoring for the Priory 
Road Community Hub project, to ensure that the Council achieves delivery both in terms of 
envisaged timeframes as well as approved Budgets, with the focus to centre on design, 
procurement, delivery resources, financial management and actual delivery through an 
agreed framework.

The Sub-Committee has been in operation for two years and has completed its work.  The 
recommendation is therefore that the Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee 
is not re-established. It is, however, recommended that a non-decision-making Group is 
established in due course with a wider remit to oversee corporate assets generally. 

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 Not to approve the recommendations.

3.2 To approve the recommendations with amendments.

3.3 To approve the recommendations with no amendments.

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 To enable delivery of the advisory/consultative support detailed in paragraph 2.3 above.

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 Ensuring that the groups are relevant and necessary to undertake effectively the Council’s 
business, therefore ensuring an appropriate use of the Council’s resources.

Page 49



6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

6.1.1 Travelling to and from meetings, though this is considered to have a relatively low 
environmental impact.

6.2 Financial

6.2.1 Meetings require the preparation of reports and agendas which has cost implications.  
Travel/subsistence allowances and carer’s allowances are also payable to councillors 
under the Council’s Scheme for Payment of Members’ Allowances, set out at Part 6 of the 
Constitution.  There is no specific budget allocated for expenditure arising from working 
parties and panels.

6.3 Staffing

6.3.1 Although it is not possible to quantify the staffing implications of appointing Panels and 
Working Parties, it should be noted that meetings are serviced by officers.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 No wards are directly affected by this report.

8.0 ACRONYMS

8.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager Governance
Telephone Number: 01775 764612
Email: mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 
Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 50



Document is Restricted

Page 51

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.a) Cabinet minutes
	2.b) Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee - 28 February 2019
	Minutes

	7. 2018/19 Financial Outturn
	Appendix 2 for 2018/19 Financial Outturn

	9. Appointment of Panels and Working Parties
	12. Fleet Maintenance
	Appendix 1 Options for Fleet Maintenance
	Appendix 2 for Fleet Maintenance
	Appendix 3a and 3b for Fleet Maintenance
	Appendix 4 for Fleet Maintenance
	Appendix 5 for Fleet Maintenance


